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1. RECORD OF THE DOCUMENTS FILED IN THE SUPERIOR COURT
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a. [__] Additional documents. (If you want any documents from the superior court proceedings in addition to the documents
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SUPERIOR COURT CASE NUMBER:

37-2018-00034228-CU-BC-CTL
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(1) [__] | will pay the superior court clerk for this transcript when | receive the clerk's estimate of the costs of this transcript.
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(1) In addition to the proceedings designated by the appellant, | request that the following proceedings in the superior court
be included in the reporter's transcript. (You must identify each proceeding you want included by its date, the department
in which it took place, a description of the proceedings—for example, the examination of jurors, motions before trial, the
taking of testimony, or the giving of jury instructions—the name of the court reporter who recorded the proceedings, and

whether a certified transcript of the designated proceeding was previously prepared.)

| Date |Department|Full/Partial Day| Description | Reporter's Name | Prev. prepared? |
(a) 10/25/2018 C-67 Partial Transcript from Ex Parte Hearing Paula A. Rahn Yes [] No
(b)11/6/2018 C-67 Partial Transcript from Ex Parte Hearing Lois Mason (Currently [] Yes No
finalizing the record)
(c)11/30/2018 C-67 Partial Transcript from Continued Status Leyla Jones (Currently [] Yes No
Conference Hearing finalizing the record)
(d) [] Yes [] No
(e) [] Yes [] No
(f) [] Yes [] No
(@ [] Yes [] No
[1 See additional pages.
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2. a. (2) Deposit for additional proceedings
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() [] Deposited the approximate cost of transcribing the designated proceedings with this notice as provided in
rule 8.130(b)(1).

(b) [ ] Attached a copy of a Transcript Reimbursement Fund application filed under rule 8.130(b)(3)(B).
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

DEPARTMENT 67

SALAM RAZUKI,

Plaintiff,

vs.

NINUS MALAN,

Defendants.

BEFORE HON. EDDIE C. STURGEON, JUDGE

)
)
)No. 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL

EX PARTE HEARING

N N P P e

APPEARANCES:

FOR THE PLAINTIFF:

FOR SAN DIEGO

BUILDING VENTURES:

FOR THE RECEIVER:

THE RECEIVER:

Octo

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR,

REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT

ber 25, 2018

LAW OFFICES OF STEVEN A. ELIA
BY: STEVEN A. ELIA, ESQ.
JAMES JOSEPH, ESQ.
MAURA GRIFFIN, ESQ.
2221 Camino Del Rio South,
Suite 207
San Diego, California 92108

NELSON HARDIMAN

BY: SALVATORE J. ZIMMITTI, ESQ.
11835 West Olympic Blvd

Suite 900

San Diego, California 90064

RICHARDSON C. GRISWOLD
ATTORNEY AT LAW

444 S. Cedros Avenue, Suite 250
Solana Beach, California 92075

CALSUR PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
MICHAEL ESSARY

8304 Clairemont Mesa Blvd.
Suite 207

San Diego, California 92111

CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151
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APPEARANCES (continued)

FOR DEFENDANT :

REPORTED BY:

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR,

GALUPPO & BLAKE

BY: DANIEL T. WATTS, ESQ.
2792 Gateway Road, Suite 102
Carlsbad, California 92009

AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP

BY: GINA M. AUSTIN, ESQ.

3990 0ld Town Avenue, Suite A-112
San Diego, California 92110

GORIA WEBER & JARVIS

BY: CHARLES F. GORIA, ESQ. MILES
1011 Camino Del Rio South,

Suite 210

San Diego, California 92101

DART LAW

BY: MATTHEW B. DART, ESQ.

12526 High Bluff Drive, Suite 300
San Diego, California 92130

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR, CSR NO. 11510
OFFICIAL REPORTER PRO TEMPORE

CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151
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SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA; THUR., OCTOBER 25, 2018; 8:31 A.M.

THE COURT: Let's spend a short period of time on
Razuki vs. Malan. Come on up, everybody.

We've got four motions -- five motions.

MR. WATTS: We have a written opposition we
didn't have a chance to file.

THE COURT: You can do it electronically.

MR. WATTS: Okay. Would you like a copy of it?

THE COURT: Not much is going to happen this
morning. I'm in trial. But it's good to see everybody.
Got a whole courtroom here. Oh, geez, we have charts.
When you start bringing charts, that's something else, all
right? Let's go ahead. I think I know most of you by now
and who you represent, but we're going to go one more
time.

Let's go. We're on the record. This is Razuki
vs. Malan, et al. And I don't mean to point, but let's
go.

MR. JOSEPH: James Joseph on behalf of Razuki,
plaintiff.

MR. ZIMMITTI: Salvatore Zimmitti for plaintiffs
in intervention.

THE COURT: Which is?

MR. ZIMMITTI: SoCal Building Ventures, LLC and
San Diego Building Ventures, LLC.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MS. GRIFFIN: Maura Griffin on behalf of

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR, CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151
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Plaintiff Salam Razuki.

MR. ELIA: Steven Elia on behalf of Mr. Razuki,
who's present in the courtroom.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. WATTS: Daniel Watts for Ninus Malan,
American Lending and Holding, specially appearing for
San Diego United Holdings Group, Balboa Avenue
Cooperative, Devilish Delights, California Cannabis Group.

THE COURT: And I appreciate that full
announcement.

MS. AUSTIN: Gina Austin on behalf of, let's see,
San Diego United Holding Groups, Balboa Avenue
Cooperative, Devilish Delights, California Cannabis Group.

MR. DART: Good morning, Your Honor. Matt Dart
specially appearing for Far West Management and the
individuals. I am new to the matter, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Welcome.

MR. DART: Thank you.

MR. GORIA: Good morning, Your Honor. Charles
Goria for Chris Hakim and Mira Este Properties, LLC.

THE COURT: So to summarize based on what I've
read, we have three of the parties, actually almost
everybody, that want to modify the receiver's order.

Is that kind of a fair statement?

MR. JOSEPH: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Everybody. Okay. I've got it.

First of all, we're not going to be able to do it

today. I'm in trial. And obviously, this takes time.

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR, CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151
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But I do have some thoughts and questions. I just can't
do it today. So I will try to -- I have a very full
calendar tomorrow afternoon, but I understand. Can we all
come back tomorrow probably I think about 2:307?

THE CLERK: You special set something else for

2:30

THE COURT: Hold on.

(Discussion off the record)

THE COURT: We can do it. You probably won't be
heard exactly -- I've got a TRO that has to be heard.
Well, geez, another TRO. Surprise. So no, let's just say

3:00. That will give us an hour and a half. That should
be enough time; right? Well, first of all, can everybody
make 1it?

MS. AUSTIN: Your Honor, I absolutely cannot make
that. There's not any way I can move things around.

THE COURT: Can your --

MS. AUSTIN: And Ms. Leetham is out on her
surgical -- medical reasons.

THE COURT: She's okay.

MS. AUSTIN: She's okay. She can breathe.

THE COURT: Nothing serious. That's important.

Can everyone special appear?

Okay. Here's the deal. Here's the deal.

MS. AUSTIN: I might be able to call in. I
might.

THE COURT: If you want to phone in, yeah. 1It's

either -- I can't do these -- because of this, I can't do

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR, CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151
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these on my regular thing. So we're just going to start
picking Fridays. If you say "Judge, I can't go this
Friday," we'll go the Friday after that. Because I need
time for all of you. You know how it is. Because there's

some big decisions to be made.

MS. AUSTIN: My concern 1is pushing it out -- I'm
sorry to do this. I'm trying to figure out my schedule,
because I seem to be the only problem-maker here. And

Mr. Dart just coming in with FWO and their commitment only
to stay through today, but I don't know what -- what might
have changed on that.

MR. DART: I don't either. Mr. Henkes is here,
and he's not certain he can be here tomorrow. He's going
to check his calendar. But he would seem to be a
necessary participant or a beneficial one.

THE COURT: Oh, I want him here.

MR. GORIA: Your Honor, tomorrow would be a bit
inconvenient for me, also. I could rearrange some things.
But maybe Friday the 2nd.

THE COURT: Let's do it then.

MR. ELIA: Your Honor, I'm going to be in Chicago
for a wedding.

MR. ESSARY: I'm out of the country, but can
phone in if necessary.

THE COURT: Pick a Friday. I'm in trial until
the end of the year, so I'm just banging trials. You pick
a Friday, I'll make myself available. Seriously, I'll do

whatever you want.

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR, CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151
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MR. GORIA: Your Honor, just for context, we're
all going to be here on Friday, November 16th.

THE COURT: That sounds like a good day.

MS. AUSTIN: If we could get one management fee
paid, I bet -- I don't know, you guys, but I bet you -- I
mean, I tried to talk Adam down, so I don't know about
that. But I'm just saying there's -- you -- if you want
to stay open. Otherwise, I don't know what they'll do.

MR. DART: I agree. I think the management
company, as you were going to hear today, is operating
without getting paid, and it's become a problem. And
November 16 sounds like a good day, but it's another three
weeks out.

THE COURT: Since my last order, has $50,000 left
been paid out without the court approval? That's what I
want to know. Anyone know what I'm talking about?

MR. ESSARY: Could you say that again, Your
Honor.

THE COURT: Has 50,000 been paid without a court
approval?

MR. ESSARY: Other -- for other expenses other
than management fee?

THE COURT: Yeah.

MR. ESSARY: Yes.

THE COURT: Without a court approval.

MR. ESSARY: I believe so. I mean, just on Mira
Este, I've just started approving things as of a week ago.

THE COURT: Well, I'm concerned about that. I

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR, CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151
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thought it was very clear in my order not one dime. I
mean, how many times do I have to say it? Not one dime.
And yet I just read -- did I not read it right? 50,000 --
well, it was 25- and 25- just went out that door.

Here's the problem. Here's -- and I'm glad we're
doing it, because -- first of all, has a P&L ever been
done yet? I'm looking at this side of the table.

MS. AUSTIN: For which entity, Your Honor?

And --

(Multiple speakers.)

THE COURT: The accountant, has a P&L been done?

MR. HENKES: Yes. For which entity are you
speaking about?

THE COURT: Mira Este; right?

MR. HENKES: Yes.

THE COURT: When was it done?

MR. HENKES: It was done and forwarded, I
believe, on Monday.

THE COURT: So Monday.

Has that gone to Brinig?

MR. BRINIG: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Oh, thank God.

MR. BRINIG: Brian Brinig, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Brinig, nice to see you here.

MR. BRINIG: Nice to see you, your Honor.

THE COURT: Let me give —-- we're going to take a
little time.

How is the report going?

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR, CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151
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MR. BRINIG: The report is -- I have -- I'm able
to tell the Court generally the general amount of money
that Mr. Razuki has put into the entities. I have
representations about the amount of money Mr. Malan has
put into the entities. I don't have full documentation of
that yet. I have representations of the amount of money
Mr. Hakim has put into the entities. I don't have full
documentation of that yet. I can talk to you about the
financial statements that I have and the financial
statements that I don't have if you would like that.

THE COURT: Here's -- very frankly from the
Court, I keep hearing "Judge, money is going -- we've got
to pay this bill. We've got to pay this bill. We've got
to pay" -- but I don't know what money's coming in. No
one's -- I keep -- where's the money? 1I've said that 20
times. All this "Well, Judge, we've got to pay this bill,
this bill," and yet there's no -- are these people making
money? I just want to know what money is being collected.
I can't even get that.

MR. GORIA: Your Honor, just briefly from Mira
Este, there is no money coming in. That has been dead in
the water since the receiver was appointed.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. WATTS: I've seen the financials for Balboa.
There's the preliminary -- those spreadsheets.

MS. AUSTIN: So attached to Ms. Reising's
declaration, you will see the money -- the cash sheets

that are given to the receiver every single day which

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR, CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151
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shows the amount of money coming in and the amount of
money that the operations itself just needs to spend to
survive.

And the only reason we got here was because some
of that operations money, specifically the monies for the
operator to operate and I think at one point -- not the
most recent security guard issue, but the prior one was
not being approved. So we said, "Can we just have a
budget so we know that the receiver is allowed to pay
those monies?"

THE COURT: Thank you.

Mr. Brinig, have you seen these documents?

MR. BRINIG: When you say "these documents," Your
Honor, I'm getting daily cash sheets --

THE COURT: Very good.

MR. BRINIG: -- from the -- and I've got a little
simple chart that helps everybody.

THE COURT: Bring it up. I just want to know
where the money is.

MR. BRINIG: And if you would hold --

MR. GORIA: Your Honor, while he's doing this,
let me make this slight correction: There is money coming
in from one manufacturer at Mira Este, but that is not
enough to cover debt service and the other expenses, but
there is money from that one manufacturer.

THE COURT: How much is that money coming in on a
month?

MR. GORIA: 30,000 per month.

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR, CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151

5869




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

11

MR. BRINIG: And that -- Your Honor, that --

THE COURT: That's a hunk of change.

MR. BRINIG: Every time I talk to any of these
folks, we talk about all these different entities. 1In
Mira Este, there is -- and please correct me if I say this
incorrectly -- there is one I'm going to call them a
tenant in Mira Este. That tenant is paying $30,000 a
month and has been there for three months and paid 30,000
into one of those two entities. So there has been $90,000
of revenue coming in here.

Over in the other entity, which I call Balboa,
the -- I'm getting the cash -- daily cash report on the
Balboa Avenue co-op. That's where they're selling
marijuana and getting cash. I am getting daily cash
reports on that. I have not ever seen a financial
statement for San Diego United Holdings Group.

And Flip Management, I am advised -- I have not
seen a financial statement for it. I'm advised it is
essentially no longer functioning since August -- I think
the date is August. Please correct me if I say any of
this wrong.

So it just helps me to know what entities we're
talking about. And here's where three months of 30,000 a
month is coming in here. Here's where the daily cash
reports are coming in. And this, I think, is where the
dispute is, if I can say it that way, where the operators
here want to be paying more expenses.

The receiver -- I don't mean to be arguing for or

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR, CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151
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against anybody. The receiver wants to approve the
expenses. And I think that's where -- also, one group has
proposed a budget for this entity. And I think they're
saying, "Please let us spend this much money." I think
it's 216,000 comes to mind. They want to spend that much.

THE COURT: They do.

MR. BRINIG: I think they want to spend that much
without receiver approval on a daily or regular basis.
That's not my business. So I'm just trying to separate
the issues for the Court.

MR. WATTS: Your Honor, Exhibit A to Reising's
declaration shows every single expenditure at Balboa since
August 2nd.

THE COURT: I got the expenditures.

Can you -- Mr. Brinig, can you give me a sense
of -- let's just -- how much money is coming in? The
money that's coming in, how much money is coming in in a
month?

MR. BRINIG: I will look to my associate Marilyn
Weber.

THE COURT: Ms. Weber, I read your name.

MR. BRINIG: This is Marilyn Weber, CPA, with
Brinig, Taylor, Zimmer.

MS. WEBER: Good morning, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Come on up.

MR. MAHONEY: And Your Honor, while she's coming
up, I didn't think there were enough attorneys here. My

name is Matt Mahoney. I'm representing and non-party, but

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR, CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151
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Synergy and Jerry Baca, who is the property manager at
Mira Este. I'm hoping to keep my mouth shut, but I'm here
just in case the Court has questions about operations.

THE COURT: I appreciate that.

MS. AUSTIN: And Mr. Henkes also has the numbers
of income coming in to Balboa, which I'm sure are exactly
the same as Ms. Weber's.

MR. HENKES: And those are on daily cash sheets
as well every day the income is coming in.

THE COURT: Thank you.

So give me -- how much money did they make last
month? That's what I want.

MS. WEBER: About $212,000 revenue.

MR. GORIA: And just for the record, that's for
Balboa only?

MS. WEBER: Correct.

MR. BRINIG: To clarify, though, the only other
one —-- just so we don't get confused, the only other
revenue would be in Mira Este from ediPure; right? So
there's those two boxes. That's it.

THE COURT: I got it. All right.

MS. AUSTIN: Can we ask Mr. Henkes if his number
was the same?

MR. HENKES: 1It's -- the exact number is
$203,010.77.

THE COURT: Close enough for me. I'll tell you
that. Thank you.

Okay. So we're going to do this on the 16th;

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR, CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151

5872




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

14

correct? Correct.
MR. GORIA: Well, Your Honor, we have a bit of an
urgency with our situation.
THE COURT: I'm going to address that. Hold on.
So let's try this: We're all going to come back,

take whatever time so I can really sit in. And I need you

here.
MR. BRINIG: I can do it on the 16th, Your Honor.
THE COURT: With your charts.
And I would like somehow if you could put
together a P&L or something for me. "Here's what's coming

in; here's what's going out."
MR. BRINIG: We're planning to have numbers by
the 16th. We were not planning to have numbers by today.

THE COURT: So first off, can everybody make the

léeth?

THE CLERK: They're on calendar for the 16th
already.

THE COURT: Never mind.

THE CLERK: For a status conference.

THE COURT: I want receiver -- here's what:
They're saying, "Judge, I need" -- how much money to run

for the next 16 days? Give me a number.

MS. AUSTIN: 16 days, I've got to divide and
multiply. I don't know how to do that.

MR. BRINIG: You said $216,000 a month, which was
what I believed when I read your papers.

MS. AUSTIN: Right. So he's asking for 16 days.
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So I guess that would be approximately half.

MR. BRINIG: Half a month.

MS. AUSTIN: But only out of revenues, not going
into other things.

THE COURT: I'm right on track. We're on the
same page on that one. On revenues coming in. All right?
All right. Receiver -- or the attorney. There's --

again, I've read this. They say, "Judge, if we don't do

something, you all are going to lose." That's what I'm
reading. Everybody loses here. So let's just take a
minute.

So I think it's being proposed, and I'm thinking
about it seriously, "Judge, let us have $100,000 so we can
operate for the next 16 days." That's a broad --

MS. AUSTIN: And we want to give the information.
We don't want to keep it as a secret.

THE COURT: You're going to give everything to
Mr. Brinig. Thank you.

Receiver, how about -- what do you feel about
that, $100,000 of incoming revenue go to?

MS. AUSTIN: The itemized -- the itemized --
replenishing the ATM, the vendors, the advertising, the
management, the security, the maintenance.

THE COURT: And that's all under Balboa.

MS. AUSTIN: That's correct.

THE COURT: And what entity would that check be
going to?

MS. AUSTIN: Well, "check" is a kind of a broad
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term. It would be either check or cash or whatever way
that we can make it work. Because some of the wvendors
need credit card payments, which we're still trying to
figure out. But it would go from -- into --

THE COURT: That's what I want to know.

MS. AUSTIN: -- Far West Management --

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. AUSTIN: -- and out of Far West Management,
because that's where it's coming --

MR. HENKES: 1It's really in and out of the
operating cash of Balboa Avenue Cooperative.

THE COURT: I want to know the specific entity.

MR. HENKES: Balboa Avenue Cooperative.

THE COURT: Who's Balboa?

MR. HENKES: Ninus.

MR. BRINIG: The dispensary, Your Honor. Can I
assist a little bit? And correct me if I'm wrong. The
money comes in to Balboa.

MS. AUSTIN: That's correct.

MR. BRINIG: Expenses, because of the unique
nature of this business -- please anybody correct me if T
say this wrong -- get paid in sort of a funny way. 1In
other words, some money goes to Far West to pay both Far
West and some expenses, and some other monies goes to
San Diego United Holdings to pay expenses.

Am I saying that correctly?

MS. AUSTIN: I don't —-

MR. HENKES: Let me clarify. So from the daily
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receipts of sales, we might take $2,000 of the operating
cash if we sold $10,000 in marijuana products, and then we
have $10,000. We'll reduce that $10,000 by $2,000 and put
it in the ATM machine. That money is going to be
deposited in San Diego United's account, which we get
approval for every expense that we write out of that, the
checks that are coming out of that account.

The cash never comes to Far West. It's basically
just out of the operating cash of what Balboa is doing
itself for paying its expenses. So there's a combination
of cash expenditures. So if Heidi has $8,000 left in
cash, she might pay the security company $8,000 in cash.
Now we have —--

THE COURT: From what account?

MR. HENKES: From her -- the cash sales.

MR. BRINIG: Your Honor --

MR. HENKES: Daily cash sheet.

MR. BRINIG: Your Honor, the funny business, if I

may help Mr. Henkes in that explanation, no question the

money comes in to Balboa. Some cash -- I'm asking, but
some cash expenses -- and that's what you're talking
about -- get directly paid literally out of the cash

drawer in Balboa; is that correct?

MR. HENKES: Correct.

MR. BRINIG: That's one. A second thing is some
cash money is taken from the cash drawer and put into the
ATM that is at Balboa. That's a second thing. The

ATM is -- when -- I don't do this, but when I -- if I go
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in and take $200 out of the ATM here, then my bank, Wells
Fargo, pays somebody.

MR. HENKES: San Diego United.

MR. BRINIG: So my bank -- of the hundred people
that go in there in a month, their banks pay -- repay the
withdrawals from the ATM to San Diego United Holdings. So
essentially, cash expenses go out of here, cash goes into
the ATM, and the repayment of the cash from the ATM from
everybody's bank comes in to San Diego Holdings. That's
two.

Then three, San Diego Holdings pays various
expenses of this entity. I'm just trying to help. Tell
me if I'm going too far. I think that's where we are in
the explanation so far.

MR. HENKES: That's accurate.

THE COURT: Are you comfortable with an
accounting like that?

MR. BRINIG: I don't love it, Your Honor, but
it's this funny business that they can't have a bank
account. So they can't take their $200,000 a month the
way we would like to see and take it down and put it in a
bank and then, say, write checks to pay all the expenses.
They can't do that, I'm told. I have no reason to not
believe that.

So I do think we can get our arms around the
accounting if I have the accounting -- I have the cash
statements for this. If T have the accounting for this,

Flip is history. And if I also find out if any monies
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that are going to Far West -- and this is kind of a
question -- are used to pay operating expenses of Balboa
or is the money that goes to Far West simply used for Far
West's fee.

MR. HENKES: Money going to Far West would only
be to repay our invoices. We give them an invoice for
$15,000. That's about what it is per week. $9,000 in
salaries and wages that they're reimbursing us for --

MR. BRINIG: Can I stop you there?

MR. HENKES: Yes.

MR. BRINIG: 1In other words, some of the money
going to Far West is to pay expenses of the operation.

Is that correct for that part?

MR. HENKES: Absolutely.

MR. BRINIG: And then the other part of the money
that's going to Far West is for Far West's fee.

MR. HENKES: Correct.

MS. AUSTIN: That's correct.

MR. BRINIG: So where do the expenses get paid?
Some cash --

THE COURT: I got it.

MR. BRINIG: -- then some expenses get paid from

San Diego United Holdings and some expenses get paid from

Far West.

THE COURT: Mr. Brinig -- everybody, I'll give
you two seconds to speak. I think I know where I'm going
to go.

Has SD United Holdings Group, have they provided
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any information to you as to their -- i.e., "Judge, here's
what they're paying out. Here's the money we get."

MS. WEBER: We have bank statements.

MR. BRINIG: We have bank statements. We do not
have financial statements, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Who's SD?

MR. HENKES: So SD United's activity is actually
going to be incorporated into the Balboa financials,
because SD United is just housing the bank account for
this entity. The only activity that's happening is the
deposits and payment of expenses on behalf of CCG. So
when you get the financials that I said I'd be sending
over later on Balboa, you're going to have all those
deposits, the ATM, reflected in there --

MS. AUSTIN: That's --

MR. HENKES: -- and the expenditures.

MR. ESSARY: We don't have it today, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Hold on. "And if you get that,
Judge, I can give you what you need. I can give you an
accounting."

MR. BRINIG: I hear that. If that is correct and
I get it, then I can -- from what's represented, I will
have all the expenses of this entity. I'm going to have
some questions. Some are paid from here; some are paid
from here. But Mr. Henkes is telling me these financial
statements have all those expenses consolidated into them.
MS. AUSTIN: That is accurate.

THE COURT: Who's Far West? Far West.
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Anything you need from Far West, Mr. Brinig, what
expenses they pay?

MR. BRINIG: Well, I'm -- from what Mr. Henkes
just said, I'm understanding that I'm going to see the
expenses of Balboa that Far West paid in Balboa's
financial statements. I may have some questions to make
sure that I'm understanding that. But if that is
accurate, then I theoretically have all the expenses of
Balboa.

THE COURT: Correct, Mr. Henkes?

MR. HENKES: Those are incorporated, and there's
an invoice every week that lays out every expense that
we're charging them for.

THE COURT: Well done. Thank you.

I'm ordering everybody to cooperate with
Mr. Brinig. That's a court order right now. If he calls
you up and says "I need to know this financial
information," court order, cooperate with him.

Anything else you think you need for the
November -- Ms. Weber, anything you need?

MS. WEBER: Well, I think that there's -- I mean,
other than San Diego United, we don't have a whole picture
of like all of the debt, the payments on the debt.

There's been representations by parties that they put
money into the entity.

MR. BRINIG: Can I help you there, Ms. Weber?
When we met with Mr. Malan, very helpful, and Mr. Hakim,

very helpful, I said specifically to them "I need a
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summary from you guys' perspective of all of the dollars
you have put in."

I had the same meeting with Mr. Razuki, and he
has provided us that. Mr. Malan and Mr. Hakim have not
provided us with a summary from their respective
perspectives of what they put in. I would like that. Is
that not --

THE COURT: Who represents Malan? I assume
that's coming.

MR. HENKES: Didn't we provide that listing from
Mr. Hakim in the meeting we were at with you?

MR. BRINIG: Providing it orally in a meeting --

MR. HENKES: It wasn't orally. We gave you the
printout, I believe.

MR. ESSARY: It doesn't show the capital
contributions and mortgage payments.

MR. BRINIG: I accept your representation. Let's
get together and see if you -- we have what you think we
have or if I'm satisfied with what we have.

THE COURT: And how about Mr. Hakim? Who
represents him?

MR. GORIA: Yes, I represent him. And I was at
the same meeting that Mr. Henkes was at. And I saw the
document that he handed, which is a running -- like a
ledger sheet, in and out for the last three months that
has basically every expense and every bit of income for
Mira Este.

MR. BRINIG: I don't remember too much at this
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age, Mr. Goria. But I do remember that document, and I
accept your representation. You did give us some list.
I'm looking at Ms. Weber, and we're fine or we'll figure
it out if we don't have it. So I accept that
representation.

THE COURT: Okay. Here's the last thing:
Receiver --

MR. ESSARY: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: -- or counsel receiver, I'm thinking
about releasing $100,000 to keep Balboa in business.

Position?

MR. ESSARY: The system today with me approving
the invoices has worked fine, and they've been paying
their bills on a regular basis. I approve them almost
immediately or very shortly thereafter.

The only exception which has caused some of this
angst is I was not approving the Far West management fee
specific invoice because other bills, including some
receivership expenses, were not being prioritized. And I
stated that very clearly in my e-mail.

So that system still works. And if you say "Give
them 110,000," I don't have control of it. It goes into
their operation, it comes out. And the only control that
I have that I've been giving to Marilyn, also, is those
daily cash sheets and requests for approval of invoices.
I don't have financials, but I do get to see the cash flow
coming into the operations. I'd like to maintain that,

Your Honor.
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THE COURT: What's wrong with letting him do the
110,000°7

MS. AUSTIN: We don't have --

MR. HENKES: I think part of the confusion arose
with the whole approval thing. When we left -- my
understanding when we left the Court was whatever the
management company was doing and putting on those daily
cash sheets, because we were providing that information
every day, we did not need to get approval for that
operating cash. We were cycling through. And there's
been no expenditures that we feel have been paid that
shouldn't have been paid.

The other side of the coin is the money that's
going into the bank accounts that the receiver does have
control over. And we were asked to get approval on every
single expenditure that we get from there -- or pay from
there, and we have.

So again, you have Synergy that was a management
company that was doing what they were doing with their
operating cash that they got from ediPure. You have Far
West Management that was doing the same thing on their
daily cash sheets.

And we weren't seeking approval for those pieces
of it because that was our understanding. If we need to
get approval for every expenditure, we can do that. It
puts, you know, some undue burden on us, but it's a
process that we can follow if that's what the Court wants.

MS. AUSTIN: Can I --
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THE COURT: Let me give you my thoughts.
MS. AUSTIN: Well, I just -- yeah, because I just
got a text message from the woman from the -- Cyndee,

C-y-n-d-e-e, Ellis from the CDTFA,

Department of Tax and Fee Administration,

which is the California

saying that

because of the 170-plus thousand prior tax liability that

SoCal didn't pay, she's trying to get ahold of us.

And if

she doesn't speak to us prior to Wednesday of next week,

she will shut down the shop herself.
THE COURT: Meaning Balboa.
MS. AUSTIN: Yes.
THE COURT: Okay.
MR. ZIMMITTI: Your Honor,
SoCal should have paid.
for that.
THE COURT: So it seems --

MR. HENKES: Well, there is a basis.

I take exception that

That's just -- there's no basis

They were

operating the dispensary,

they sold marijuana products,

they collected sales tax from people,

and they spent the

money and they didn't remit it to the tax --

that tax

MR. ZIMMITTI:

MR. HENKES:

to the State.

You're talking about property tax?

They had a fiduciary duty to submit

THE COURT: So —--

MR. HENKES: By the way, we are remitting

Balboa's tax that's due as we should, the 50,000.
THE COURT:

coming up?

CSR #11510 ~
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MS. AUSTIN: Yes.

MS. GRIFFIN: Your Honor, I think it begs the
question where is the money -- the receiver has nothing to
do with the operations or how much -- how profitable these
businesses are. They're in control of profitability.
It's not making enough to cover its expenses and pay the
bills.

The receiver needs to take over and have
operational control. They've entered into horrible,
terrible agreements where as the money was coming in
sufficient to pay bills under SoCal, they've entered
lessor agreements with the two entities that are now
operating these. And where are we going to get the money
unless the receiver comes in and starts operating these
businesses the way they should be operated? 1It's as
simple as that.

MR. ZIMMITTI: 1I'd also like to request that we
get backup for some of these representations. Obviously,
we take exception with representations of money being put
in without backups. And we've been -- SoCal has been
burned before by literally fake invoices being pushed on
to us.

So we're very -- if this is going to be a
forensic analysis, we're not going to stop. It's just
some representation or a ledger provided by one of the
defendants.

THE COURT: No, I understand.

MR. GORIA: Your Honor, just briefly. The crisis
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at least at Mira Este came about because SoCal stopped
making payments in May. So that left Mira Este on its own
kind of like an orphan child. And at that point when
there was no receiver, which was in the first part of
August, a deal was struck between Mira Este and Synergy.

Synergy goes out and lines up a dozen prospective
manufacturers to come in. And as soon as the receiver was
reappointed, those guys just vanished. The one that had
been signed up before the receiver was reappointed was
ediPure. They're paying 30,000.

We're here because we have a deal lined up with
Cream of the Crop to pay 50,000 a month. That will put
income at Mira Este at 80,000. That will be enough to
cover debt service and it will be enough to cover the
expenses.

But the deal is not going to be around
November 16th. That's why we brought this ex parte,
because we need to get the receiver out of Mira Este.
Mira Este is like Roselle. There's nothing going on there
at this point. There's a single manufacturer, ediPure,
and nobody is going to join them with the receiver in.

We're not saying anything about Mr. Essary or
certainly not Mr. Griswold. It's not their fault. It was
an unforeseen consequence that these manufacturers would
not deal with a facility where there was a receiver in
charge. None of them are. 1It's kind of a -- it's not
really a joke, but it's just kind of an unforeseen

circumstance that they all refuse to deal with the
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receiver. So that's why we need the receiver out. We
have the opportunity to put Mira Este in the black, but it
has to be done quickly.

MR. WATTS: Your Honor, and Balboa --

THE COURT: And then we're done.

MR. WATTS: -- has the money to keep afloat. If
you look at the daily expenditures, you can track all the
money that's coming in and where it's going out and what
the carryover amount is on a daily basis.

But the receiver, his attorney, and the, you
know, forensic accountant said $50,000 charge in
September --

THE COURT: Yeah.

MR. WATTS: -- and revenues are around 200,000 at
Balboa. So this is a 25 percent overhead. So they're
complaining that Far West isn't making it profitable.

They just had to take a 25 percent overhead that didn't
exist before. And they're talking about SoCal being
profitable back in the day. That's when Ninus was
personally subsidizing the mortgage and paying the
mortgage and paying these other bills.

The business has never been profitable. They've
always had lots of money coming in, but they've also had
lots of money going out. So every time we talk about
$200,000 that's coming in as revenue, that's not profit.
The businesses have never been profitable. They've always
had to be subsidized by capital infusions from the owners.

And Razukil himself said he's owed over a million
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dollars for improvements. SoCal thinks they're owed
hundreds of thousands of dollars for contributing. These
businesses are not profitable. They're surviving, but
they don't survive when their employees are supposed to --
are told that they have to work for free and then they
don't get paid and so they quit. There's a 13th
Amendment. They're not going to work for free.

So Far West Management's fee that we're talking
about, that's to pay wages and salaries of people that are
working there and the business. They need to be paid in
order to do their jobs. And the receiver, I understand
from his perspective he wants to pay himself with the
receivership expenses. He says they take priority.

That's not true. He's a fiduciary of the
parties, not the other way around. The businesses take
priority. The defendants and the plaintiffs, our
interests in the property take priority. Those business
expenses that are necessary to keep these businesses alive
and preserve the property, those need to get paid first.

And if the receiver has -- respectfully, if the
receiver has a problem with that, maybe we shouldn't have
a receiver so that the businesses can preserve themselves.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MS. GRIFFIN: Your Honor --

THE COURT: No, we're done. I have a trial. 1In
fact, I'm already late.

Here's what we're going to do. Ready? Can you

give me a report? I just want to know where the money --
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Mr. Brinig?

MR. BRINIG: Yes.

THE COURT: I really do. 1I've had
representations from everybody here. I don't know. So if
I could have a nice report. "Judge, here's what's coming
in." And maybe they're not profitable, you know. Maybe
they're all going to lose business. I don't know. Maybe
they shouldn't even be in business, I don't know, if they
can't make money. Huh? Everybody has to subsidize. But
if you could do that for me.

MR. BRINIG: I will give you a report.

THE COURT: And there's a court order for
everyone to cooperate with you. If somebody doesn't
cooperate with you, let me know about it.

MR. BRINIG: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Here we go. I'm going to release
$110,000. Mr. Henkes?

MR. HENKES: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Are you going to be paying the
$110,0007

MR. HENKES: I don't pay them specifically.
Heidi would pay them specifically.

THE COURT: Who will?

MR. HENKES: Heidi, the general manager of
Balboa.

THE COURT: Okay. But you keep track of all
that; right?

MR. HENKES: Of course.
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THE COURT: You keep track of that. You send it
to the receiver. This is a one-time thing only until I
find out where we're going on the 16th.

MR. HENKES: Sure.

THE COURT: Everybody good?

Mr. Griswold, I want an order on that.

MR. GRISWOLD: And Your Honor, one more point of
clarification. The $110,000 --

THE COURT: Comes out of Balboa.

MR. GRISWOLD: At Balboa. There's authority to
utilize that $110,000 to pay the ongoing expenses of the
operation.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. GRISWOLD: Related to that, it's the
receiver's understanding that Synergy and Far West, as
managers of the operation, must still notify the receiver
of all expenses being paid.

THE COURT: Yeah.

MS. AUSTIN: That's right.

MR. GRISWOLD: Yes.

THE COURT: That's what he's going to do.

MR. GRISWOLD: Okay. That was a big -- that was
a huge discrepancy in e-mails over the last two weeks.

MS. AUSTIN: And just to be clear, I just want to
make sure we don't have to go over and over this draft
order, everybody -- anybody on your chart is going to
notify of the payments. And if FWO, if Balboa Avenue

Cooperative pays the management fee and that comes out of
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that 110- that they are spending out of the revenues that
are coming in, that is okay; correct?

THE COURT: Why do we need to pay a management
fee? Let's pay the people that work there. 1Is that the
management fee, the people that work there?

MS. AUSTIN: Part -- there's two pieces to it:
There is part of the operations of Far West, part of the
people get paid through the management fee.

THE COURT: That work there.

MS. AUSTIN: Yes. Heidi is one of them. Part of
them get paid for the management fee, part of them get
paid the salary. So there's two pieces, two buckets.

THE COURT: Is there a $25,000 fee in there?

MS. AUSTIN: Yes, because Heidi -- part of
Heidi's salary comes out of that $25,000 fee.

MR. ESSARY: All the other employees have been
approved on every request immediately by me, and those are
the on-site employees doing -- running it.

MS. AUSTIN: Yes.

MR. ESSARY: Heidi is a management person who
works for Far West who does send me the reports. So the
system you want, Your Honor, is already in place and has
been working until I said that the 6,250 every week for
four weeks to Far West as the management company I did not
approve based on other bills that were outstanding.

MS. AUSTIN: So Heidi doesn't get paid.

THE COURT: Correct. At least for 16 days.

MS. AUSTIN: Well, that's up to you whether

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR, CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151
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they'll stay or not.

THE COURT: That's going to be up to them.

MR. GRISWOLD: And, Your Honor, as to the other
management company, Synerqgy, the Mira Este facility, I
think we need clarification from the Court that before
Synergy spends money from operational funds, they need to
get approval from the receiver.

I will give you two very quick examples. There
have now been -- it's understood now that there have now
been two vans, vehicles, purchased for I think in total at
least $8500. Receiver never knew about it until we got
historical documents.

Further, there have been payments to accountants.
I assume Mr. Henkes. There have been payments to
consultants. We don't know who those people are.
Synergy's position, from what I understand, is that they
do not have to get permission from the receiver before
spending operational funds.

MR. ZIMMITTI: We've been sending all of our
expenses as of late to Mr. Essary. He's been approving
them in a timely fashion. My understanding is none of --
none of the budget pertains to Mira Este. So we're --
we're still seeking authority prior to the expenditure of
funds.

THE COURT: Counsel, thank you. Keep that
process. Keep that procedure in order.

All right. We'll take -- and I really mean it,

we're going to get to the bottom of this on the 1lo6th. I
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don't care how long it takes.

MS. GRIFFIN: Your Honor, one question. If Far
West vacates the property, what authority do the
defendants have or the receiver have to try to fill in and
replace them?

THE COURT: One wonders if they can even do that.

MS. GRIFFIN: One does wonder.

THE COURT: Why don't you come see me if that
happens.

Thank you. Good luck to everyone.

(The proceedings were adjourned at 9:10 a.m.)
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA)
: SS.
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO)

I, Paula A. Rahn, RPR, CSR NO. 11510, hereby
certify that I reported in shorthand the above proceedings
on Thursday, October 25, 2018, and I do further certify
that the above and foregoing pages numbered 1 to 35,
inclusive, contain a true and correct transcript of said
proceedings.

I further certify that I am a disinterested
person and am in no way interested in the outcome of said

proceeding.
Dated: November 2, 2018.

fi%%t&iJfﬁ:j¥ajtjbiﬁﬁﬂf

Paula A. Rahn
RPR, CSR No. 11510

PAULA A. RAHN, RPR, CSR #11510 ~ (619) 518-7151

5894




10
11
12
13
14
15

17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

27
28

Case Name: Razuki v. Malan
Case No.: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL

PROOF OF SERVICE

I am employed in the County of San Diego, State of California. | am over the age of 18 years, and not a party to
the within action. | am an employee of or agent for the ELIA LAW FIRM, APC, whose business address is 2221 Camino
Del Rio South, Suite 207, San Diego CA 92108. On Friday, December 07, 2018, | served the following document(s):

e RESPONDENT’S NOTICE DESIGNATING RECORD ON APPEAL

on the following party(ies) in this action addressed as follows:

| See attached list |

1 (BY MAIL) | caused a true and correct copy of each document, placed in a sealed envelope with postage fully
paid, to be placed in the United States mail at San Diego, California. | am "readily familiar" with this firm's
business practice for collection and processing of mail, that in the ordinary course of business said document(s)
would be deposited with the U.S. Postal Service on that same day. | understand that the service shall be presumed
invalid if the postal cancellation date or postage meter date on the envelope is more than one day after the date of
deposit for mailing contained in this affidavit.

1] (BY PERSONAL SERVICE) | delivered each such document by hand to each addressee above.

1 (BY E-MAIL) I delivered each such document via emailed PDF to the address listed above, per counsels’
agreement.

1] (BY OVERNIGHT DELIVERY) I caused a true and correct copy of each document, placed in a sealed envelope

with delivery fees provided for, to be deposited in a box regularly maintained by United Parcel Service (UPS). |
am readily familiar with this firm's practice for collection and processing of documents for overnight delivery and
know that in the ordinary course of LAW OFFICES OF STEVEN A. ELIA, APC’s business practice the
document(s) described above will be deposited in a box or other facility regularly maintained by UPS or delivered
to a courier or driver authorized by UPS to receive documents on the same date it is placed at LAW OFFICES OF
STEVEN A. ELIA, APC for collection.

1] (BY FACSIMILE) By use of facsimile machine number (619) 440-2233, | served a copy of the within
document(s) on the above interested parties at the facsimile numbers listed above. The transmission was reported
as complete and without error. The transmission report was properly issued by the transmitting facsimile
machine.

[X] (BY E-SERVICE) By utilizing the e-service feature through One Legal when filing the documents with the
Court.

[X] (STATE) I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true and
correct.

1] (FEDERAL) | declare that I am employed in the office of a member of the Bar of this Court, at whose direction
the service was made. | declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the
foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on December 7, 2018 at San Diego, California.

27—

James Joseph

PROOF OF SERVICE
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Charles.F. Goria, Esq. (SBN68944)
GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS

1011 Camino del Rio South, Suite 210
San Diego, CA 92108

Tel.: (619) 692-3555

Fax: (619)296-5508

Attorneys for Defendants CHRIS HAKIM,
MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES, LLC,
AND ROSELLE PROPERTIES LLC

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION

SALAM RAZUKI, an individual
Plaintiff
A4

'NINUS MALAN an. 1nd1v1dua1 CHRIS HAKIM,

an individual; MONARCH MANAGEMENT
CONSULTING INC.,

California corporatlon SAN DIEGO UNITED
HOLDINGS GROUP,LLC,a

California limited liability company; FLIP
MANAGEMENT, LLC, a California limited
liability company; MIRA. ESTE PROPERTIES
LLC, a California limited liability company; -
ROSELLE PROPERTIES, LLC, a California
limited liability company; BALBOA AVE
COOPERATIVE, a California nonprofit mutual
benefit corporation; CALIFORNIA CANNABIS
GROUP, a California nonprofit mutual benefit
corporation; DEVILISH DELIGHTS, INC. a
California nonprofit mutual benefit corporation;
and DOES 1-100, inclusive;

| Defendants.

AND RELATED CROSS-ACTIONS

) Trial Date:

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No.: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL
(Unlimited Civil Action) .

DEFENDANTS CHRIS HAKIM'S,
MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES LLC'S,
AND ROSELLE PROPERTIES LLC'S
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND
AUT HORITIES IN REPLY TO
OPPOSITION OF PLAINTIFF SALAM
RAZUKI TO SET BOND ON APPEAL

Hearing Date: December 14, 2018
Time: 1:30PM ‘
Dept.: C-67

I/C Judge:  Hon. Eddie C. Sturgeon

Complaint Filed: July 10, 2018
Not Set
IMAGED FILE
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Defendants Chris Hakim, Mira Este Properties LLC, and Roselle Properties LLC
("Moving Defendants") respectfully submit the following memorandum of points and
authorities in reply to the opposition of Plaintiff Salam Razuki to Moving Defendants'’
motion to set bond on appeal:

1. Introduction.

Plaintiff argues that the court should set the Moving Defendants' appeal bond in the
exorbitant amount of $3,750,000 relative to Moving Defendants' appeal of the appointment
of the receiver at the Mira Este facility. Plaintiff argues that such an excessive bond is
necessary because the court has already determined that plaintiff has a likelihood of success
on the merits; that there is a "high risk that the business. will be sold or fail if the
receivership order is stayed"; and that the requested bond amount is based on the valuations
that were negotiated in the management agreement with SoCal Building Ventures, LI.C
("SoCal"). None of these arguments has merit. The bond amount should be set at a minimal
level, not exceeding $10,000.00. ‘ ‘ v |

2. Plamtlff’ S gross mlsconduct in early November 2018 in his "murder for
hire" plot represents a complete defense based on the. doctrme of unclean hands and
undermmes any- "hkellhood of success" that may. have prevmusly been found by the
court before plaintiff "hatched" hls murder for: hlre plot.

Ultnnately, plamtlff W1]1 not be. entltled to the contmuance of the receiver or any

agamst co-defendant Nlnus Malan '
Any suggestlon of unclean hands dlrected agamst the party seekmg equitable rehef
triggers the requn'ement that such party prove h1s "clean. hands" L Unhke other afﬁrmatlve

Y1n Kendall-Jackson, Wmery, Lid. v, Superzor Court, 76 Cal. App 4th: 970 978-979 the court descrlbed
the "clean hands" doctrme as follows

"The defense of unclean ‘hands arises from the maxim," ' "He who comes into Equity must come

with clean hands." *““(Blain.v.-Doctor's Co. (1990)222 Cal. App. 3d 1048; 1059 [272 Cal. Rptr.

250] (Blain).) . . . He.must come:into.court with clean hands, and keep them clean, or he will be denied
relief, regardless of. the merits: of his claim. (Preczszon Co. v. Automotive. Co. (1945)324.U.S. 806, 814-
815 [65 S. Ct. 993, 997-998, 89 L. Ed. 1381]; Hall v. Wright (9th Cir. 1957) 240 F.2d 787, 794-795.) The
defense is available in legal as well as equltable actions. (cit. omit.).. . The unclean hands doctrine

2
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defenses that allocate the burden of proof to the defendant, the unclean hands doctrine

requires the party seeking relief to establish his or her "clean hands" when any

suggestion arises about his or her inequitable conduct.
The California Supreme Court case of DeGarmo v. Goldman, 19 Cal. 2d 755, is

dispositive of the allocation of burden of proof in cases such as the present one where the

plaintiff seeks the intervention of a court of equity. In DeGarmo, supra, the

_ respondent/stockholder, also a director, claimed on appeal that his action was one at law, that he

invoked a statutory remedy under Cal. Civ. Code § 310, and the court did not have jurisdiction to
hear the appeal. The court held that it had equitable jurisdiction to hear the appeal and that the
superior court erred in not considering the issue of the stockholder's good faith. The court found
that the statutory action against the directors for misconduct was based upon a breach of their
fiduciary duty to the corporation and that under such circumstances equity had concurrent
jurisdiction with law. As a consequence of that finding, the stockholder was not entitled to the
relief sought unless he came to the court of equity with clean hands. It was the duty of the
superior court upon a “suggestion” that the stockholder had not acted i in good faith to inquire
into the facts in that regard. The evidence showed that the stockholder failed to perform his
duties, failéd to investigate the irregularities he alleged, and benefited from the fraudulent acts of
the directors. The stockholder did not meet the burden of proof that he had clean hands and
could not avail. htmse(f of an equitable remedy. At 19 Cal. 2d 755 764-765, the Court stated:

: “Upon the second issue of good faith, the court made no ﬁndmg although it is the duty of
a court of equity, upon any suggestion that a plaintiff has not acted in good faith
concerning the matters upon which he bases his suit, to inquire into the facts in that
regard. For it is not only fraud or illegality which will prevent a suitor from obtaining
equitable relief. Any unconscientious conduct upon his part which is connected with the
controversy will repel him from the forum whose very foundation is good
conscience. (Johnston v. Murphy, 36 Cal. App. 469 [172 Pac. 616].)

* k%

protects judicial integrity and promotes justice. It protects judicial integrity because allowing a plaintiff
with unclean hands to recover in an action creates doubts as to the justice provided by the judicial system.
Thus, precluding recovery to the unclean plaintiff protects the court's, rather than the opposing party's
interests. (cit.omit.)” (Emphasis added).
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. . .Therefore, as the very foundation of an equity forum is good conscience, any really
unconscientious conduct connected with the controversy to which he is a party is
sufficient justification for the court to close its doors to him; nor does the fact that a
plaintiff may have no adequate remedy at law justify disregarding the

maxim. (Miller v. Kraus, [Cal. App.] 155 Pac. 834.) The burden is on the one coming
into a court of equity for relief to prove not only his legal rights but his clean hands,

and he may not rely on any deficiencies that may be laid at the door of the
defendants. (Richman v. Bank of Perris, supra.)” (Emphasis added).

In the present case, the Probable Cause Statement in the Federal Criminal Complaint
establishes at least the “suggestion” that plaintiff is guilty of the worst type of misconduct in
connection with this litigation. That statement reads in part as follows (at Moving

Defendants’ Request for Judicial Notice in Support of Motion to Set Bond on Appeal
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- [RAZUKI] has a lot of money tied

(“Moving Defendants’ Req. Jud. Notice™) Exhibit 1):

“On or about October 17, 2018, SAI;AM RAZUKI and SYLVIA GONZALES
met with a Confidential Human Source (CHSl) requesting CHS] arrange to kill one of

their business assoclates, Nm.! According to RAZUKI and GONZALES, they had
invested in multiple properttes and business ventures together and were now
involved in a civil dispute over their assets. RAZUKJ and GONZALES told CHS1
that they wanted CHS1 to "shoot him [N.M.] in the face," "to take him to Mexico and
have him whacked," or kill him in some other way. RAZUKI and GONZALES
provided CHS1 a picture of N.M.; which CHS provided to the FBI

On or about November 5, 2018, CHS!I met with GONZALES at The Great
Maple in San Diego, CA. During the meeting, GONZALES asked if CHSI could "get
rid of Salam's [RAZUKI] other little problem, [N.M.], because it looks like they' re
going to aggeal. " GONZALES said the civil dispute between her, RAZUKI, and N.M.
was over $44 million dollars. GONZALES went on to. say, "It's no joke, Salam

need to get rid of this asshole. [N.M. L. he's costt ng me. too much money!"” GONZALES
wanted thiis to occur before the next court date in thetr civil suit scheduled on or about

. November 15, 2018. . ..

On November or about 8, 2018, CHS1 met with GONZALES at Banbu
Sushi Bar and Grill in La Mesa, CA. At the outset of the meeting, GONZALES
continued to complain about N.M. and the ongomg civil lawsuit.

. GONZALES and JUAREZ said they wanted to "put the turkey up
to roast before Thanksgtvmg.

* ok %
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On or about November 9, 2018, GONZALES called CHSI and asked CHSI
to meet her, RAZUKI, and JUAREZ. . . RAZUKI, GONZALES, and JUAREZ,
discussed with CHS1 several loans they were trying to secure for their businesses,
including cannabis dispensaries, as well as RAZUKI's frustration with the ongoing
civil suit with N.M. . . .

On or about November 13, 2018, GONZALES contacted CHSI again via phone
and informed CHSI that RAZUKI and GONZALES would be with N.M. in court at the
Hall of Justice located at 330 West Broadway, San Diego, CA. . . . While inside the Hall
of Justice, GONZALES took a picture of N.M. with her phone and sent it to CHSI.. ..
GONZALES went back into the courthouse and provided CHS1 with updates as N.M.
was departing the Hall of Justice to ensure CHSI observed N.M. as he left. GONZALES
told CHSI that N.M. would be exiting the courthouse and that GONZALES, RAZUKI,
JUAREZ, and their attorney would exit after him. FBI agents observed N.M exit the
courthouse after CHS1 had been told this and agents observed RAZUKI, GONZALES,
and JUAREZ proceeded on foot to the vehicle they arrived in and departed.

. .Later on November 15, 2018, CHSI met with RAZUKI, which was recorded
and survetlled by FBI agents. CHSI said, "1 took care of it." RAZUKI replied, "So he
will take care of it, or it's done?"” CHSI replied, "Done." .. .. Later in the S
conversation, CHS1 said, "Well, when I talked to what's her name, she said that she
wanted to have proof. Do you want to see it, or are you ok with it?" RAZUKI replied,
"No, I'm ok with it. I don't want to see it.” Shortly thereafter, CHS1 requested the
remainder of the agreed-upon payment and RAZUKI directed CHSI to follow up with
GONZALES for payment. .” (Emphasis added). '

Again, the probable cause statement reflected gross misconduct that went to the very

heart of this civil lltlgatlon because laintiff _mtended to. murder de .endant Malan as the

most ex; edttwus way o end. the CIWl lm .atzon " As such, the probable cause statement at
least triggered the Court’s duty to mqulre into the facts surroundmg the attempted murder.
The burden of proof is not on the party assenmg unclean hands; it is on the party seeking the
intervention of the court,_né_mely plaintiff; to afﬁrmative_ly esfablish that his “he.nds” are
clean and the material in the Probable Cause Stateinent is false Plaintiff has utterly failed to
do so. His Counsel’s insupportable and gratultous remark that plamtlff’ s criminal
mlsconduct is “nothing more than a tort” does not meet plaintiff’s burden of proof to
establish that his “hands are clean”.

Plaintiff has also previously misinformed the court about the requlrement that the

"unclean hands" arise from the alleged causes of action asserted by the plaintiff. Plaintiff has

Hakim.Motion.Set.Bond.Points.Authorities.Reply SDSC Case No. 37-2018-34229-CU-BC-CTL
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misinformed the Court about the extent of the nexus between the misconduct and the subject
matter of the action necessary for the application of the unclean hands doctrine.

In Unilogic, Inc. v. Burroughs Corp., 10 Cal. App. 4th 612, the plaintiff, Unilogic,
alleged that Burroughs tortiously converted certain new technology for a personal computer
developed by Unilogic pursuant to a contract it had with Burroughs. Unilogic introduced
evidence that, during development of the technology and at the direction of his superiors at
Burroughs, a Burroughs employee, Orcutt, spirited proprietary information on the development
of the personal computer away from Unilogic. Burroughs answered Unilogic's conversion claim
with the affirmative defense of unclean hands, claiming that the subject contract was fraudulently
procured by Unilogic. Although the fraudulent procurement of the contract was not part of the

conversion claim and not even directly involve ad in the conversion claim, the court of appeal
nonetheless upheld the finding of unclean hands as a defense to the conversion claim. The court
stated as follows (at 10 Cal.App.4th 621):

"Unilogic takes an unreasonably narrow view of the unclean hands doctrine.
Certainly, there must be a connection between the complaint and the equitable defense:
“The trial of the issue relating to clean hands cannot be distorted into a proceeding to try
the general morals of the parties." ( Boericke v. Weise (1945) 68 Cal.App.2d 407, 419
[156 P.2d 7811.). . .But the doctrine does apply "if the inequitable conduct occurred in
a transaction directly related to the matter before the court and affects the equitable
relationship between the litigants. [Citations.]" ( California Satellite Systems, Inc. v.
Nichols, supra, 170 Cal.App.3d at p. 70.) In short, "[t]he misconduct must infect the
cause of action before the court." ( Carman v. Athearn (1947) 77 Cal.App.2d 585, 598
[175 P.2d 926].) . - . ‘ ’ _

. In this case, Burroughs's conversion and Unilogic's misconduct occurred in the
same transaction that forms the subject of this litigation--the joint development project. In
our view, that is enough to trigger application of the unclean hands doctrine.” L

| See, also, KendallJackSon VI"inemz, Ltd. v. Superior Court, 76 Cal. App. 4th 970, 985,
and Peregrine Funding, Inc. v. Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP, 133 Cal. App. 4th 658.
In the latter case, the Fourth District Court of Appeal discussed the nexus element in the unclean

hands. doctrine as follows:

“The question is whether the unclean conduct relates directly “to the transaction
concerning which the complaint is made,” i.e., to the “subject matter involved”
(Fibreboard, supra, 227 Cal. App. 2d at p. 728, italics added), and not whether it is part
of the basis upon which liability is being asserted. (Unilogic, Inc. v. Burroughs Corp.
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(1992) 10 Cal.App.4th 612, 621 [12 Cal. Rptr. 2d 741] [“the doctrine does apply ‘if the
inequitable conduct occurred in a transaction directly related to the matter before the
court and affects the equitable relationship between the litigants® ”; see also A
Kendall-Jackson Winery, Ltd. v. Superior Court, supra, 76 Cal. App.4™ at p. 985 [“any
evidence of a plaintiff's unclean hands in relation to the transaction before the court
or which affects the equitable relations between the litigants in the matter before the
court should be available to enable the court to effect a fair result in the

litigation”].)” (Emphasis added).

In the present case as well, the murder for hire plot was triggered by the very litigation
that is before the court. Far more than in Unilogic, the misconduct here was a direct outgrowth
of the lawsuit, and not simply an ancillary fact. Indeed, in Unilogic, Unilogic's unclean hands in
the formation of the contract did not constitute any part of Unilogic's conversion claim against
Burroughs for the conversion of Unilogic's proprietary information. Nevertheless, the court
there determined that the unclean hands doctrine will apply if the misconduct that constitutes
unclean hands relates to the subject matter before the court.

That is certainly the case here. The niurdej for hire plot occurred in the same context as
the subject litigation in that the murder for hire plot was triggered by the expense, attorney’s
fees, and likelihood of appeal in the litigation. Each of these factors-was specifically mentioned
by plaintiff and his co-defendants to the undercover agent. Paraphrasing Unilogic, the murder
for hire plot occurred in the same dispute as the civil lawsuit, namely, the dispute over
properties, the extensive attorney's fees incurred by the parties in this litigation, and the filing of
the appeal. The murder for hire plot is inextricably intertwined with the subject litigation, and
that is enough of a relationship to bring into play the unclean hands doctrine. As such, the
argument by plaintiff that the court has already ruled that plaintiff will likely prevail on the
merits is fatally defective because any such determination was made before the murder for hire

It should finally be noted that the court's order appointing a receiver at Mira Este may

plot occurred.

also be collaterally attacked at any stage of the proceedings as being void for lack of jurisdiction

" as well. The requirements of CCP § 564 pertaining to the appointment of receivers are

jurisdictional, and without a showing of the basis under CCP §564 for the appointment of a |

N . (
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receiver, the court’s order appointing a receiver is void. Turner v. Superior Court (Cal. App. 5th
Dist. Aug. 24, 1977), 72.Cal. App. 3d 804.

In the present case, plaintiff has never been able to point out the basis for his argument
that the appointment of a receiver at the Mira Este facility (as compared to the Balboa facility)
implicates any of the bases for the appointment of a receiver under CCP section 564. Plaintiff
has no property ownership in the Mira Este facility, since that is owned exclusively by Mira Este
Properties LLC. Plaintiff does not even own any recognizable interest in Mira Este Properties
LLC. Plaintiff's interest only goes to a share of the profits after those profits are distributed to
defendant Ninus Malan. Such interest is predicated on an amorphcus settlement agreement
between plaintiff and Mr. Malan (but not Mr. Hakim) that purports to create RM Holdings, LLC
to receive profits distributed to Mr. Malan. Plaintiff has no control, voting power, or other
recognizable interest in the Mira Este facility.

Further, plaintiff cannot point to any partnership dispute involving Mira Este Properties
LLC, because plainﬁff has no contractual rélationship or partnership relationship with Mr
Hakim or with Mira Este Properties LLC. Plaintiff's contractual relationship is with Ninus Malan
alone. In that regard, it shduld be noted that even as to the operatioﬁs of the Mira Este facility,
defendant Chris Hakim is the sole and exclusive managing member of Mira Este Properties LLC.

In short, plaintiff cannot and has not established any basis under CCP §564 for this
court's jurisdiction to appoint a receiver over the Mira Este.facilvity or Mira Este Properties LLC. |
For that reason as well, the appellate bond should be minimal.

3. There is an avalanche of evidence that the business will not fail if the
receiver is removed; contrariwise, the business will continue to fail if the receiver
remains. v - | .

- The bond amount suggested by plaintiff of $3.75 million for Mira Este bears no
relationship to any potential damage that may be suffered if the receivership is stayed. Plaintiff
will actually profit from a removal of the receiver and not suffer any damage whatsoever. In -
particular, the Mira Este facility will actually profit from the removal of the receiver because

once the receiver is removed, manufacturers will come into the facility and pay substantial

Hakim.Motion:Set.Bond.Points.Authorities.Reply SDSC Case No. 37-2018-34229-CU-BC-CTL
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monies that will make the facility profitable. As such, plaintiff has not and cannot show any
"likelihood of damage" if the réceivership is stayed.

As made clear by the Amended Second Report of Receiver (“Second Report”™), the
Mira Este facility has lost some $132,097.60 for the period from July through October 2018.
(See Schedule 5 of Second Report). The only revenues during this time have come from the
Edipure license fees of $90,000.00, paid at the rate of $30,000.00 per month. Edipure was
procured as a sub-licensee at a time when there was no receiver in place at the Mira Este
facility. (Of course, and by comparison, the Second Report shows that during the time
SoCal managed the Mira Este facility during the latter part of 2017 and through July 10,
2018, no revenues from operations were generated by SoCal. See Schedule 5, Second
Report).

Moreover, during the course of the proceedings in the last three months, Moving
Defendants have submitted a virtual avalanche of evidence to establish that the
manufacturers with whom they have negotiated are not willing to come into the Mira Este
facility so long as the receiver is there. These manufacturers were identified in the prior |
declaration of Jerry Baca (attached for the convenience of the Court to Defendants’ Req.
Jud. Notice as ExhiBit 2). As specified in that declaration, the manufacturers together with
their comments are as follows: ‘

~1..  Conscious Flowers. (The principal at Conscious Flowers, Robert Torrales, .

- submitted his own declaration (attached for the convenience of the Court to

‘Defendants’ Req. Jud: Notice as Exhibit 3) wherein he explained why he would not

work under a receiver.) _ - | ‘

2. Eureka Oil (Vape Cartridges): Baca was told by the principal of Eureka Oil
that having a third-party receiver would be a “deal breaker.” He made it clear he will
only work directly with Mr. Hakim. Potential revenues lost amount to more than
$40,000 per month based on anticipated sales.

3. Bomb Xtracts (Vape Cartridges, Pre Rolls, Flower, Moonrocks, Candy,
Concentrates, Drinks, Edibles and chip). Baca was told by the principal that he refused

to work with any receiver. He stated that his company had too many trade secrets and

Hakim Motion.Set.Bond.Points. Authorities.Reply SDSC Case No. 37-2018-34229-CU-BC-CTL
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recipes that could potentially be monitored and copied by a receiver. Potential revenues
lost amount to more than $70,000 per month based on anticipated sales.

4. 10X (Cannabis infused drinks). Baca was told by the principal that he was not
willing to share trade secret to the knowledge of the business with a third party receiver.
Potential lost revenue amounts to approximately $20,000 per month.

5. Cannabis PROS ((Candy Company). Baca was told by the principal that any
sublicense agreement would have to wait until all legal issues are resolved and
ownership other than the receiver is in place. Potential lost revenue amounts to
approximately $25,000 per month.

6.  Royal Vape (Vape Cartridges, Pre Rolls, Edibles). Baca was told by the principal
that he was unwilling to work with the receiver. He did not give a reason. Potential lost
revenue amounts to more than $30,000 per month.

7.  LOL Edibles (Candy, Chips and moré). Baca was told by the principal that he
was not pleased about having to work with a receiver and is still waitihg to decide
whether or not to proceed with the sublicense agreement. -Potential lost revenue is more
than $30,000 per month. . .

8.  Xitreme Vape (Vape Oil manufacturing and Vape Cartridges). Baca was told by
the principal that he is not willing to work with a receiver. Negotiations for sublicense
agreement will be restarted once the receiver is removed or the lawsuit is complete.
Potential lost revenue is more than $20,000 per ménth. '

9. . . Bloom Farms (Vape Cartridges). Baca was told by the principal that because of
the turmoil caused by the litigation, he has decided to go elsewhere for his production
facility. Potential lost revenue is more than $30,000 per month, ' ’
10. . -Cannabis Presidentials (Premium Pre Rolls, Vape Cartridges, Flower,
Moonrocks, Candies). Baca was told by the principal that he is not willing to work
with a third-party receiver and that “once things are cleared up”; they would be willing
to sign a sublicense agreement. He was also told by the principal that he is concerned

that his company’s trade secrets would be jeopardized with a receiver or other third-

N

10
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party overseeing the Facility. Potential lost revenue is between $40,000 and $70,000 per
month. '

Against this avalanche of evidence, plaintiff offers an innocuous, irrelevant, and
hearsay email sent three days before the November 30, 2018 hearing concerning a specific
negotiation with another manufacturer, Cream of the Crop. That email suggested that it was
a negotiating error to offer a 40% discount to Cream of the Crop as an inducement when the

parties were only three days away from what was thought to be a decision on the removal of

- the receiver from the Mira Este facility. If such removal had occurred on the scheduled date

of November 30, then Cream of the Crop would likely have been willing to locate its
manufacturing processes at Mira Este at the previously negotiated price of $50,000 rather
than the reduced price of $30,000.

In short, a stay of the receivership pending appeal will actually result in the Mira Este
facility becoming profitable. The numerous manufacturers who are awaiting this court's
decision on the removal of the receiver have given every indi::ation that once the receiver is
out, they will locate their manufacturing operations at Mira Este. As such, it “turns logic on
its head” to suggest that there will likely be damages if the receivership is stayed at the Mira
Este facility. No damage will result from the removal of the receiver, and therefore, the
bond on appeal should be sét at the minimum.

4. Conclﬁsion. . S ,

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is requested that the Court set tli‘e bond on appeal

relative to the Mira Este facility at the minimum required amount of not more than $10,000.

Respectfully submitted,

GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS

Dated: -/%7é745". 4- | By//:;%;;;é@ ggzi;z¢ﬁ;

{~"Charles F. Goria

Attorneys for Defendants
{ ' Chris Hakim, Mira Este Properties
LLC, and Roselle Properties LLC

11
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA,
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

CENTRAL
MINUTE ORDER

DATE: 12/17/2018 TIME: 02:26:00 PM DEPT: C-67

JUDICIAL OFFICER PRESIDING: Eddie C Sturgeon
CLERK: Patricia Ashworth

REPORTER/ERM: Not Reported

BAILIFF/COURT ATTENDANT:

CASE NO: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL CASE INIT.DATE: 07/10/2018
CASE TITLE: Razuki vs Malan [IMAGED]
CASE CATEGORY: Civil - Unlimited CASE TYPE: Breach of Contract/Warranty

APPEARANCES

The Court, having taken the above-entitled matter under submission on 12/14/2018 and having fully
considered the arguments of all parties, both written and oral, as well as the evidence presented, now
rules as follows:

The request to add Sunrise Property Investments, LLC to be included in the receivership proceedings is
denied.

Defendants Ninus Malan, Monarch Management Consulting Inc., San Diego United Holdings Group,
Balboa Ave Cooperative, Devilish Delights Inc., and California Cannabis Group's for order setting
appellate bond amount is granted, in part. Defendants Chris Hakim, Mira Este Properties LLC, and
Roselle Properties LLC for order setting appellate bond amount is granted, in part.

The court sets the appellate bond as follows:

Ninus Malan appellate bond is set at $350,000.

San Diego United Holdings Group's appellate bond is set at $350,000.
American Lending and Holdings LLC's appellate bond is set at $350,000.
Flip Management LLC's appellate bond is set at $350,000.

Balboa Ave Cooperative's appellate bond is set at $50,000.

Devilish Delights Inc.'s appellate bond is set at $50,000.

California Cannabis Group's appellate bond is set at $50,000.

Chris Hakim's appellate bond is set at $350,000.

Mira Este Properties LLC's appellate bond is set at $350,000.

Rosell Properties LLC's appellate bond is set at $350,000.

Based upon various representations during oral argument that all parties must cooperate in order to be
effective, in order to vacate the receiver, each party must post bond.

The motion to appoint Kevin Singer as receiver is denied.

DATE: 12/17/2018 MINUTE ORDER Page 1
DEPT: C-67 Calendar No.
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CASE TITLE: Razuki vs Malan [IMAGED)] CASE NO: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL

The motion to add Sunrise Property Investments, LLC to the receivership is denied.

e ¢.

Judge Eddie C Sturgeon

DATE: 12/17/2018 MINUTE ORDER Page 2
DEPT: C-67 Calendar No.
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Andrew W. Hall, Esq., SBN 257547
Daniel Watts, Esq. SBN 277861
G10 GALUPPO LAW

A Professional Law Corporation
2792 Gateway Road, Suite 102
Carlsbad, California 92009

Phone: (760) 431-4575

Fax:  (760) 431-4579

Attorneys for Defendants

ELECTRONICALLY FILED
Superior Court of California,
County of San Diego

02/20/2019 at 05:36:00 FM

Clerk of the Superior Court
By Ines Quirarte,Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

CENTRAL DIVISION

SALAM RAZUKI, an individual,
Plaintiff,

V8.

NINUS MALAN, an individual, MONARCH
MANAGEMENT CONSULTING, INC., a
California corporation; SAN DIEGO UNITED
HOLDING GROUP, LLC, a California limited
liability company; MIRA ESTE
PROPERTIES, LLC, a California limited
liability company; ROSELLE PROPERTIES,
LLC, a California limited liability company;
and DOES 1-100, inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No.: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL

Assigned: Hon. Judge Sturgeon
Dept.: C-67

Opposition of Ninus Malan to dissolved
company RM Property Holdings, LLC’s ex
parte application; Request for Judicial
Notice

Date: February 21, 2019
Time: 8:30 am.

Judge: Sturgeon
Dept.:  C-67

Malan’s opposition to Ex Parte Application of Dissolved Company RM Property Holdings, LL.C

1
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Opposition

“RM Property Holdings, LLC” apparently intends to appear ex parte “to present an
application for an order prohibiting Ninus Malan from acting unilaterally on behalf of RM
Property Holdings.” It cannot happen.

1. RM Property Holdings, LL.C is not a valid company. It has been dissolved and
canceled.

RM Property Holdings’ manager filed certificates of dissolution and cancellation in
January 2019, and “Upon filing a certificate of cancellation,” a company “shall be canceled and
its powers, rights, and privileges shall cease.” Corp. Code §17707.02(c). See Request for
Judicial Notice.

As an officer of the court, the attorney claiming to represent the dissolved company is, of
course, duty bound to notify the court and opposing counsel of his client’s non-existence. See
City of San Diego v. San Diegans for Open Government (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 568, 578, as
modified on denial of reh'g (Oct. 17, 2016), review denied (Jan. 11, 2017) (sanctioning attorney
who represented suspended corporation and failed to notify court). City of San Diego v. San
Diegans for Open Gov 't affirmed that an attorney’s “explicit approval of [a suspended
corporation’s] appearance and representation of [it] was, as described by the superior court,
unethical.” City of San Diego v. San Diegans for Open Government (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 568,
578, as modified on denial of reh'g (Oct. 17, 2016), review denied (Jan. 11, 2017). See also
Palm Valley Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. Design MTC (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th 553, 562 (“The
firm urges that it could not discharge its ethical duties to represent its client, if it had to reveal
the client's suspended status to the court and counsel. Not so. If the corporation had been
suspended for nonpayment of taxes, the client's disability would have been clear, and the
attorney's duty to report that to the court would also have been clear.”).

The ex parte application should be denied because it was brought by a non-existent entity
with no capacity to maintain a claim for relief.

2. RM Property Holdings, LL.C has not been granted leave to file a cross-complaint.
Malan’s opposition to Ex Parte Application of Dissolved Company RM Property Holdings, LLC

2
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Secretary of State LLC4/7

Certificate of Cancellation
Limited Liability Company (LLC)

Secr'e:*!a‘;yEoPStateQD Ik K

State of California

IMPORTANT — Read [nstructions before completing this form.
There is No Fee for filing a Certificate of Cancellation

Copy Fees ~ First page $1.00; each attachment page $0.50;
Certification Fee - $5.00 plus copy fees

JAN 24 2013

(C°’ This Space For Office Use Only

1. Limited Liability Company Name (Enter the exact name of the LLC as
it is racorded with the California Secretary of State)

RM PROPERTY HOLDINGS, LLC

2. 12-Digit Secretary of State File Number

201717710044

3. Dissolution (California LLCs ONLY: Check the box if the vote lo dissolve was made by the vote of ALL the members.)

D The dissolution was made by a vote of ALL of the members of the California Limited Liability Company.

Note: If the above box is not checked, a Certificate of Dissolution {Form LLC-3) must be filed prior to or together with this
Certificate of Cancellation. {California Corporations Code section 17707.08(a).)

4. Tax Liability Statement (Do not alter the Tax Liability Statement.)

California Franchise Tax Board.

All final returns required under the California Revenue and Taxation Code have been or will be filed with the

5, Cancellation Statement (Do not alter the Cancellation Statement.)

Upon the effective date of this Certificate of Cancellation, the Limited Liability Company's registration is
cancelled and its powers, rights and privileges will cease in California.

6. Read and Sign Below (See Instructions for signature requirements. Do not use a computer generated signature.)

By signing this document, | certify that the information is true and that | am authorized by California law ta sign.

Ninus Malan

Signature Type or Print Name
Signature Type or Print Name
Signature Type or Print Name

LLC-4/7 (REV 05/2017)

5916

2017 Califamia Secretary of State
Www.$05.6a gov/business/he




ESN

O X 3 N

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

Andrew W. Hall, Esq., SBN 257547
Daniel Watts, Esq. SBN 277861
G10 GALUPPO LAW

A Professional Law Corporation
2792 Gateway Road, Suite 102
Carlsbad, California 92009

Phone: (760) 431-4575

Fax:  (760) 431-4579

Attorneys for Defendant Ninus Malan

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

CENTRAL DIVISION

SALAM RAZUKI, an individual, Case No.: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL

Plaintiff,

PROOF OF SERVICE
vs.

NINUS MALAN, an individual; MONARCH
MANAGEMENT CONSULTING, INC,, a
California corporation; SAN DIEGO
UNITED HOLDING GROUP, LLC, a
California limited liability company; MIRA
ESTE PROPERTIES, LLC, a California
limited liability company; ROSELLE
PROPERTIES, LLC, a California limited
liability company; and DOES 1-100,
inclusive,

Defendants.

AND ALL RELATED CROSS-ACTIONS

I'am employed in San Diego County. I am over the age of 18 and not a party to this action.
My business address is 2792 Gateway Road, Suite 102, Carlsbad, California 92009.

PROOF OF SERVICE

1
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SALAM RAZUKI v. NINUS MALAN, et al.

Superior Court of California, County of San Diego
Case No. 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL

SERVICE LIST

Gina Austin

Tamara M. Leetham

Austin Legal Group, APC

3990 Old Town Avenue, Suite A-101
San Diego, CA 92110
gaustin@austinlegalgroup.com
tamara@austinlegalgroup.lcom

Co-Counsel

Law Offices of Steven A. Elia, APC

Steven A. Elia

Maura Griffin

James Joseph

2221 Camino Del Rio South, Suite 207

San Diego, CA 92108

Telephone: 619-444-2244

Fax: 619-440-2233

E-mail: steve@elialaw.com
maura@elialaw.com
james@elialaw.com

Attorney for Plaintiff
Salam Razuki

Robert E. Fuller

Zachary E. Rothenberg

Salvatore J. Zimmitti

NELSON HARDIMAN LLP
1100 Glendon Avenue, Suite 1400
Los Angeles, CA 90024
Telephone: 310-203-2800

Fax: 310-203-2727
rfuller@nelsonhardiman.com
ZRothenberg@NelsonHardiman.com
szimmitti@nelsonhardiman.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs-In-Intervention
SoCal Building Ventures and San Diego
Building Ventures, LLC

Charles F. Goria

GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS
1011 Camino del Rio South, #210
San Diego, CA 92108

Telephone: 619-692-3555
chasgoria@gmail.com

Attorneys for Defendants and Cross-
Complainants

Mira Este Properties, LLC, Monarch
Management Consulting, Inc. and Chris Hakim
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5919




© 00 ~N o o b~ O w NP

T T N N N N T T N R e I = S T S S S e e =
o N o R W N P O © 0 N o O M W N Lk O

Richardson C. Griswold
GRISWOLD LAW, APC

444 S, Cedros Avenue, Suite 250
Solana Beach, CA 92075

Telephone: 858-481-1300

Fax: 888-624-9177
rgriswold@qgriswoldlawsandiego.com

Attorneys for Court-Appointed Receiver
Michael Essary

Douglas Jaffe

Law Offices of Douglas Jaffe
501 West Broadway, Suite 800
San Diego, CA 92101
Telephone: 619-400-4945
Fax: 619-400-4947
douglasjaffe@aol.com

Attorneys for Cross-Defendants

Sunrise Property Investments, LLC, Matthew
Razuki, Marvin Razuki and Sarah Razuki,
Super 5 Consulting Group, LLC; Alternative
Health Cooperative, Inc; Goldn Bloom
Ventures, Inc.

Matthew B. Dart

DART LAW

12526 High Bluff Drive, Suite 300
San Diego, CA 92130

Telephone: 858-792-3616

Fax: 858-408-2900
matt@dartlawfirm.com

Attorney for Defendants

Far West Management, LLC; Heidi Rising;
Matthew Freeman; Alexis Bridgewater; Adam
Knopf

Timothy J. Daley

Michael J. Hickman

MUSICK, PEELER & GARRETT LLP
225 Broadway, Suite 1900

San Diego, CA 92101-5028

Telephone: 619-525-2500

Fax: 619-231-1234
t.daley@musickpeeler.com
m.hickman@musickpeeler.com

Attorneys for Cross-Defndant and Cross-

Complainant
RM Property Holdings, LLC
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Salam Razuki v. Ninus Malan, et. al.
Case Number: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL

ATTACHMENT 1 TO REQUEST FOR ENTRY OF DEFAULT

1 (b) NINUS MALAN; an individual ; CALIFORNIA CANNABIS GROUP, a California
nonprofit mutual benefit corporation; DEVILISH DELIGHTS, INC., a California
nonprofit mutual benefit corporation; BALBOA AVE COOPERATIVE, a California
nonprofit mutual benefit corporation; AMERICAN LENDING AND HOLDINGS, LLC,
a limited liability company; MONARCH MANAGEMENT CONSULTING, INC., a
California corporation; FLIP MANAGEMENT, LLC, a limited liability company; SAN
DIEGO UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC, a limited liability company
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Daniel Watts, Esq. SBN 277861
G10 GALUPPO LAW

A Professional Law Corporation
2792 Gateway Road, Suite 102
Carlsbad, California 92009
Phone: (760) 431-4575

Fax: (760)431-4579

Attorneys for Defendant Ninus Malan

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

CENTRAL DIVISION

SALAM RAZUKI, an individual,
Plaintiff,

VS.

NINUS MALAN, an individual; MONARCH
MANAGEMENT CONSULTING, INC.,, a
California corporation; SAN DIEGO
UNITED HOLDING GROUP, LLC, a
California limited liability company; MIRA
ESTE PROPERTIES, LLC, a California
limited liability company; ROSELLE
PROPERTIES, LLC, a California limited
liability company; and DOES 1-100,
inclusive,

Defendants.

AND ALL RELATED CROSS-ACTIONS

Case No.: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL

PROOF OF SERVICE

I am employed in San Diego County. I am over the age of 18 and not a party to this
action. My business address is 2792 Gateway Road, Suite 102, Carlsbad, California 92009.

PROOF OF SERVICE

1
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Charles F. Goria, Esq. (SBN68944)
GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS

1011 Camino del Rio South, Suite 210
San Diego, CA 92108 ’

Tel.:  (619) 692-3555

Fax: (619)296-5508

Email: chasgoria@gmail.com

Attorneys for Defendants Chris Hakim,
Mira Este Properties, LLC, and
Roselle Properties LLC

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION

- HAKIM, an individual; MONARCH

- UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC, a

SALAM RAZUKI, an individual
Plaintiff
Vs |

NINUS MALAN, an individual; CHRIS

MANAGEMENT CONSULTING, INC., a
California corporation; SAN DIEGO

California limited liability company; FLIP
MANAGEMENT, LLC,; a California limited
liability company; MIRA ESTE
PROPERTIES LLC, a California limited
liability company; ROSELLE PROPERTIES,
LLC, a California limited liability company; -
BALBOA AVE COOPERATIVE, a
California nonprofit mutual benefit :
corporation; CALIFORNIA CANNABIS
GROUP, a California nonprofit mutual benefit
corporation; DEVILISH DELIGHTS, INC. a
California nonprofit mutual benefit
corporation; and DOES 1-100, inclusive;

Defendants.

Case No.: 37-201 8-00034229-CU—BC-CTL
(Unlimited Civil Action)

DEFENDANTS CHRIS HAKIM’S, MIRA
ESTE PROPERTIES LLC’S, AND
ROSELLE PROPERTIES LLC’s EX
PARTE APPLICATION TO REMOVE
RECEIVER FROM MIRA ESTE '
FACILITY OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE
TO CLARIFY AND MODIFY 12/17/2018
ORDER SETTING BOND AMOUNTS;
DECLARATION OF CHARLES F.
GORIA

'Hearing Date: March 12, 2019
. Time: 8:30 AM

Dept.: C-67 o
I/C Judge: Hon. Eddie C. Sturgeon

Complaint Filed: July 10, 2018

Trial Date:  Not Set

AND RELATED CROSS-ACTIONS AND IMAGED FILE ,
ACTIONS IN INTERVENTION.
Hakim.Ex.Parte. Application » Case No.: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL
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TO: ALL PARTIES AND THEIR ATTORNEYS OF RECORD HEREIN:
~ Defendants and Cross-complainants CHRIS HAKIM, MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES
LLC, and ROSELLE PROPERTIES LLC (hereinafter, sometimes collectively, “Moving
Defendants”) hereby apply for an ex parte order modifying the September 26, 2018 Order
Granting Preliminary Injunction and Appointing Receiver ("9/26/2018 Receivership Order") by
removing the Mira Este Facility from the receivership. Alternatively, Moving Defendants hereby
apply for an ex parte order clarifying and/or modifying the Court's December 17,2018 Miﬁute

Order setting bond amounts ("12/17/2018 Order").

This application is brought on the grounds that good cause exists for the granting of the
application in that Edipure, the sole producer and manufacturer‘ that has located its operations at
the Mira Este Facility (“Facility”), has vacated the facility and ended its relatlonshlp w1th M1ra
Este Properties LLC. As aresult, there will be insufficient income to meet monthly debt service
and overhead obligations.

Good cause also exists in that the existence of the receivership at the Facility has blocked
and prevented the Facility from entering into proﬁtable licenses and subcontracts With '

manufacturers and producers and therefore has prevented the Facﬂlty ﬁom eammg 1ncome

‘necessary to meet its overhead and debt service obhgatlons

Good cause also exists for the granting of the application in that the receiver is not
currently performing any supervisory functions at the Facility, so removing the Facility from the
scope 'of the receivership will not result in any negative consequénces to any of the parties.

Good cause also exists for the granting of the alternative ex parte order tb clarify and/or
modify the 12/17/2018 Order in that said order seems to require that parties that have no interest
in the Facility post undertakings in order to stay the receivership order at the Facility. Such a |
requirement is also not authorized by law, and it effectively blocks any removal of the

receivership pending appeal of the 9/26/2018 Order. Said 12/ 17/2018 order also requires a party

who has not filed an appeal (American Lending and Holding LLC) to post a bond in order to

Hakim.Ex.Parte. Application Case No.: 37-201 8-00034229-CU-BC—CTL
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remove the receivership at the Facility. As such, Moving Defendants have been deprived of their
right to post a bond in order to suspend the receivership at the Facility pénding appeal.

This application is based upon this application, the accompanying declaration of Chris
Hakim, the following Declaration of Charles F. Goria, the accompanying memorandum of points
and authorities, and accompanying request for judicial notice, the records and file in this case,
and such other oral and documentary evidence as may be presented at or before the hearing

hereof, -

Goria, Weber & Jarvis

7
Dated: 3/////9 W g Q\\ |
"/ arles F. Goria

Attorneys for Moving Defendants

DECLARATION OF CHARLES F. GORIA

" I, Charles F. vGoria, declare;

1. I am an attorney at law duly licensed to i)ractice before the coiirts of the State of -
California and am a partner in the law firm of Goria, Weber & Jarvis, retained by Moving
Defendants Chris Hakim, Mira Este Properties LLC, and Roselle Propertles LLC to represent
them in the above entitled action. -

2. Notice of this ex parte hearing was provided on Saturday March 9, 2019 by

- correspondence sent electronically to attorneys for the receiver, Plaintiff, Defendants other than

Moving Defendants, and Plaintiffs-in-Intervention. A true and correct copy of said
correspondence with the names and addresses of the counsel receiving same is attached hereto as

Exhibit 1 and, by this reference, made a part hereof, Oh Saturday, March 9, 2019, counsel for

Plaintiff communicated to me by electronic mail that she would be appearing and opposing the
ex parte application.
Hakim.Ex.Parte. Application Case No.: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL
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3. For the convenience of the Court, attached to the Moving Defendants’ Request for

Judicial Notice, filed concurrently herewith, are true, correct, and verbatim copies of the

following documents: (a) Declatation of Jerry Baca in Opposition to Motion for Prellmmary

Injunction to Appoint Receiver (Exhibit 1); (b) Declaration of Robert Torrales in in Opposition

to Motion for Preliminaxy Injunction to Appoint Receiver (Exhibit 2); (¢) September 26, 2018
Order Grantmg Preliminary Injunction (Exhibit 3); (d) portions of the transcript of the December :
14 2018 hearing on motion to set bond amounts (Exhibit 4); () December 17, 2018 Order |
setting bond on appeal (Exhibit 5); (f) portion of Amended Receiver's Second Report (Exhibit 6);

(g) Notice of Appeal filed on October 30, 2018 (Exhibit 7); and, (h) Notice of Cross-AppeaI filed
on November 2, 2018 (Exhlblt 8).

I declare under penalty of peljury under the laws of the State of California that the

foregomg is true and correct and that this declaration was executed at San Diego County,

Cahforma, ﬂ’uS // day of March 2019.

Charles F Gona

Hakim.Ex.Parte. Application | » - Case No.: 37-2018-00034229-CU-BC-CTL
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LAW OFFICES OF

GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS
- ATTORNEYS AT LAW
DANIEL S. WEBER 1011 Camino del Rio South, Suite 210 TEL (619) 692-3555
CHARLES F. GORIA San Diego, California 92108 FAX (619) 296-5508
DAVID C. JARVIS
March 9, 2019
Via Electronic Mail Only

Steven El.ia Richardson Griswold :

steve@elialaw.com rgriswold@griswoldlawsandiego.com

Maura Griffin Griswold Law APC

Maura@elialaw.com 444 S, Cedros Ave #250

Law Offices of Steven Elia
2221 Camino Del Rio So., Suite 207
San Diego, CA 92108

~ Daniel Watts
dwatts@galuppolaw.com
Lou Galuppo, Esq.
Igaluppo@galuppolaw.com
Galuppo Law
2792 Gateway Road, Suite 102
Carlsbad, CA 92009

Robert Fuller
rfuller@nelsonhardiman.com
Salvatore J. Zimmitti
szimmitti@nelsonhardiman.com
Nelson Hardiman, LLP )
11835 West Olympic Blvd, Suite 900
Los Angeles, CA 90064

Re: Salam Razuki v. Ninus Malan et al,
SDSC Case No. 37-2018-0034229

Dear Counsel:

Solana Beach, CA 92075

Gina Austin

gaustin@austinlegalgroup.com

Tamara M. Leetham

tamara@austinlegalgroup.com

Austin Legal Group, APC

3990 Old Town Ave., Ste A-112
San Diego, CA 92110

Timothy Daley, Esq.

T.Daley@musickpeeler.com |

Matthew Dart,. Esq.

matt@dartlawfirm.com

Matt Mahoney Esq.
mahoney@wmalawfirm.com

Please be advised that Defendants and Cross-complainants Mira Este Properties,
LLC, Chris Hakim, and Roselle Properties LLC will be appearing ex parte in the above-
entitled matter on their application for an order modifying the September 27, 2018
preliminary injunction by removing the receiver from the Mira Este Facility; or in the
alternative, for an order modifying/clarifying the December 17, 2019 order setting bond

amounts.

5933




March 9, 2019
Page 2

The ex parte application will be heard on T uesday, March 12, 2019 at 8:30 a.m. in
Department C-67 of the San Diego County Superior Court - Central Division located at 330
W. Broadway, San Diego, California 92101 before the Honorable Eddie C. Sturgeon.

Please let me know at your earliest convenience if you will be appearing and if you
will be opposing said application. '

Sincerely yours;

Charles F. Goria

CFG:tls
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Charles F. Goria, Esq. (SBN68944)
GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS

1011 Camino del Rio South, Suite 210
San Diego, CA 92108

Tel.: (619) 692-3555

Fax: (619)296-5508

Attorneys for Defendants CHRIS HAKIM,
MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES, LLC,
AND ROSELLE PROPERTIES LLC

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL DIVISION

SALAM RAZUKI, an individual
Plaintiff
VS o E
NINUS MALAN, an individual; CHRIS
'HAKIM, an individual; MONARCH .
MANAGEMENT CONSULTING, INC.,

California corporation; SAN DIEGO
UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC, a

California limited liability company; FLIP -
MANAGEMENT, LL.C, a California limited
liability company; MIRA ESTE PROPERTIES
LLC, a California limited liability company;

ROSELLE PROPERTIES, LLC, a Califor

nia

limited liability company; BALBOA AVE
COOPERATIVE, a California nonprofit mutual
benefit corporation; CALIFORNIA CANNABIS
GROUP, a Californiia nonprofit mutual benefit
corporation; DEVILISH DELIGHTS, INC. a
California nonprofit mutual benefit corporation;

and DOES 1-100, 1nc1uslve

- De_fendants.

AND RELATED CROSS-ACTIONS AND

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

I/C Judge:

Case No.: 37-201 8-00034229-CU-BC;CTL '

(Unlimited Civil Action)

REQUEST FOR JUDICIAL NOTICE OF
DEFENDANTS CHRIS HAKIM, MIRA
ESTE PROPERTIES LLC, AND

' ROSELLE PROPERTIES LLC IN

SUPPORT OF EX PARTE HEARING TO
REMOVE RECEIVER FROM MIRA
ESTE FACILITY OR IN THE

; ALTERNATIVE TO CLARIFY AND |
'MODIFY 12/17/2018 ORDER SETTING

BOND AMOUNTS

Hearing Date: March 12,2019

‘Time: 8:30 AM

Dept.: C-67 .

Hon. Eddie C. “S'tu;rgeon

Complaint Filed: July 10,2018
Trial Da’* : Not Set

IMAGED FILE

ACTIONS IN INTERVENTION. :

Hakim.Ex.Parte.Request.Jud.Notice

5935

SDSC Case No. 37-20 18-34229-CU-BC-CTL




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

TO: ALL PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL OF RECORD:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendants Chris Hakim, Mira Este Properties LLC., and

Roselle Properties LLC hereby request that this Court take judicial notice pursuant to Evidence

Code sections 452, et seq., of the following documents that are publicly recorded or filed

documents and that are described below and attached hereto, as follows:

Exhibit

Description
Number .
| Exhibit 1 Declaration of Jerry- Baca in Opposition to Appointment of Receiver, filed
' .September 4, 2018 in this action.
Exhibit 2 Declaratioh of Robert Torrales in Opposition to Appointment of Receiver, filed
September 4, 2018 in this actiqn.
Exhibit 3 ‘ 9/26/2018 Order Granting Preliminary Injunction
Exh_ibit 4 Portions of transcript of 12/14/2018 hearing on motiQri to set boﬁd amounts
Exhibits | 12/17/2018 Order setting bond amouns '
Exhibit 6 Receiver’s Amended Report, Schedule 5, Mira Este Operation, Statemeht of
| Cééh Receivéd and Disbﬁrsed frotﬁ Operations
‘Exhibit 7 Notice of Ap’pealj filed October 30, 2018
‘Exhibit 8 - |

Notice of Cross-Appeal filed November 2, 20‘1 8

GORIA WEBER & JARVIS :

25

27

—dn  wdeaga

Charles F. Goria

Attorneys for Defendants

Chris Hakim, Mira Este Properties
LLC, and Roselle Properties LLC

Hakim.Ex.Parte.Request.Jud.Notice . SDSC Case No. 37-2018-34229-CU-BC-CTL
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“Tel.:

Charles F. Gor1a, Esq. (SBN68944)
GORIA, WEBER & JARVIS -
1011 Camino del Rio South, ‘Suite 210
San Diego, CA 92108. :
(619) 692-3555

Fax (619) 296-5508

_ Attorneys for Defendant CHRIS HAKIM

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CENTRAL_ DstiON

" SALAM RAZUKI, an individual

Plaintiff

124t -

15

174

19
20
21

22|
2
25

26
27

s
= .

1] NINUS MALAN, an individual; CHRIS

“HAKIM, anmdlwdual MONARCH

1| MANAGEMENT CONSULTING, INC.,
' California-corporation; SAN DIEGO

UNITED HOLDINGS GROUP, LLC, a: -
California limited liability company; FLIP

MANAGEMENT, LLC, a California limited -

liability company; MIRA ESTE -

" 18]| PROPERTIES LLC, a California limited
1| liability'company; ROSELLE PROPERTIES,

LLC, a California limited liability company;

B BALBOA AVE COOPERATIVE, a o

California nonprofit mutual beneﬁt
corporation; CALIFORNIA CANNABIS
"GROUP, a California nonprofit mutual-

benefit corporation; DEVILISH DELIGHTS,

INC. a California nonprofit mutual benefit

corporatlon, and DOES 1- 100 1nc1us1ve, : _

Defendants

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

B Tnal Date:

Case No.: 37-2018 00034229 CU-BC CTL

(Unhmlted C1v11 Actlon)

') DECLARATION OF JERRY BACA IN
. OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S - o _'
') ' APPLICATION FOR- APPOINTMENT OF

) VRECEIVER e

. ",Hearmg Date September? 2018
) - Time:. 130PM i ,

" Dept.:: C67
- 1/C Judge:

Honi Eddi"e'C..'-Sturge(J)n' -_

' Complaint Flled July 10, 2018

Not Set A

IMAGEDFILE R

Hakim.Baca.Declaration

"SDSC Case No, 37-2018-34229-CU-BC-CTL
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I, Jerry Baca, declare:
1. Tam over the age of 18.
2. Iam the managing member (and sole member) of Synergy Management |

Partners, LLC (“Synergy”). Since approximately August 1, 2018, Synergy has managed the |

,Facﬂlty at 9212 Mira Este Court, San Diego, California (“Mira Este Faclllty” or “Facﬂlty”)

for and on behalf of Mira Este Propertles, LLC (“MEEP”)

3. I have been employed in the eannabls industry for more-than 6 years. Aniong '

. other paSt experiences in the cannabis industry, I have owned and operated a cannabis

: dlspensary, and I have owned and operated a business in three states that facﬂltated the

physician evaluatlon of pat1ents for poss1ble cannabis presenptlons
4. In connection with Synergy S management of the M1ra Este F ac111ty, Synergy' '

is respons1b1e for the. day-to-day operatlons of the Famhty, mcludmg staffmg for the L

' bu1ld1ng, 1nstallat10n of ut111t1es, Internet. semce and other serv1ces, prov1dmg securlty for A

the Fa0111ty, and prov1d1ng a comphance manager to oversee productlon at that Faclhty

5. - The busmess model at the era Este Fac111ty cons1sts of at least 3 dlfferent ) .
act1v1t1es, none of which 1nvolve the retall sale of cannabls products F1rst the Mu"a Este

Facﬂlty, consrstmg of approximately 16, 000 square feet of space, isa hcensed cannabls -

- "manufacturer As such the Mira Este Faclhty has the opportumty to enter into sub hcense I

:agreements w1th other producers and manufacturers so long as the safeguards and practlces o

and procedures at the Mira Este. Faclllty are followed Those safeguards mclude prov1dmg

securlty at the Facility 7 days a week and 24 hours a day It also 1ncludes documentmg all i ‘

.items that come into the Facility by mamfest takmg control of those ltems and placmg

Hlakim Baca Declaration | ' " SDSC Casé No. 37-2018-34229-CU-BC-CIL,
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them in a safe. When a sub hcensee producer or manufacturer requlres these 1tems for the

manufacture of its product Synergy handles the paperwork, including the documentmg of

' the release of such materials with at least two (2)_persons present at all times. Add-ltro_nally,

Synergy coordinates the testing of products with an outside testing company, again with two

(2) witnesses present at all times. As noted, Synergy also provides staffing for the building,

which includes not only security and a compliance manager, but also all maintenance and
cleaning staff. Synergy has also prepared formal vrritten- practices and policies that all sub

licensees are required to follow. The second business activity at the Facility involves

,Synergy s distribution of cannabis products for the sub, hcensees The third busmess

act1v1ty involves the productlon by MEP of its own set of cannabls products for dlstnbutlon..
6. The prrmary source of income to MEP is from sub hcensees and is generated :
by a mmnnum guarantee as.agamst a percentage Aof gross revenues earned by the sub
licensee. Income from the: d1str1butron of cannabls products or MEP’s manufacture of
cannabls products are nonextstent because of the presence of the recelver |
7. | ‘In regards to income from sub 11censees, that is also v1rtually nonexrstent as

explained below because of the presence of the receiver. The busmessmode‘lwrth sub’

" licensees involved a guarantee per month of no less than $20 000, as agalnst a percentage of
business of the sub licensee of no less than 10% Therefore and by Way of example, the

first and only producer/sub hcensee procured by Synergy was a company known as Edlpure

‘Edlpure expended tens of thousands of dollars in preparatlon for the start of its productlon B

act1v1t1es at the F acrhty It also entered 1nto a subhcense agreement to ut111ze approx1mately

4000 square feet at the Faclhty The subhcense agreement was made aﬁer the recelver was -

Tiokim Baca Declaration . . " SDSC Case No. 37-2018-34229-CU-BC-CIL
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18 ‘$pace that is requlred by sub 11censees

205:é -
5 l“ ‘or producer would need to expend in order to begin operatlons at.the Fac1l-1ty is

removed on or about July 31,2018 and before the receiver was re-appoi,nted_on or about
August 20, 2018. During that time, Edipure generated approximately $200,000 in "f‘bpre-—_.
orders”. Since 10% of that amount or $20,000 was less _than'the $3(;),O‘00 per month
minimum guarantee u_nder the sublicense agreement with Edipure, Edipure will be |
responsible to pay the sum of $30,000 to continue its operations at the Facility for the first
month of its operation. At this time, Edipure is the on_e and only sub licensee. Th,e.Fac"ility

cannot survive on Edipure’s $30,000 per month, given the extensive overhead that is

* involved in the o’peration of the Facility.

8. The minimnum space requirements of a sub hcensee is approxunately 2000 »

square feet The maximum is approximately 4000 square feet As noted, no other sub

licensee or manufacturer has entered into a subhcense agreement for reasons outlmed below

When fully utlhzed the Mira Este Facrhty can accomrnodate between 4 and 8 sub- hcensees _

or manufacturers at any glven time. It is therefore antlcrpated that the era Este Facrhty -

could generate a minimum of $120 000 per. month and a maxunum of $400 000 per month

in guarantees dependmg upon the amount of the minimum. guarantee and the amount of ,

9. The normal cost of unprovements and other. start-up costs that a sub hcensee

: japproxnnately $50 000 to $100 000. ‘Therefore, sub llcensees are understandably cautlous '

‘and careﬁtl before enterlng into subhcense agreements of the type made by Edlpure

'10.  Based on our respectlve contacts in the cannabls 1ndustry, Chrls Haknn and I___' o

developed a 11st of producers and manufacturers for subllcensmg at the era Este Fac111ty ,

Hakim.Baca.Declaration : ' . SDSC Case No. 37-201 8-34229_‘-‘CU-BC-CTL
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